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In our book, Newstead Abbey, A Nottinghamshire 
Country House: Its Owners and Architectural 
History 1540–1931, Dr Rosalys Coope and I 
utilised a number of the invaluable drawings of 
the Abbey and its landscape setting made in the 
1770s by the Swiss topographical artist S H Grimm 
(1733–94).1 These drawings and many others were 
commissioned by the antiquarian, the Reverend 
Sir Richard Kaye, 6th Baronet, LLD, FRS, FSA 
(1736–1809). All 2,662 of Grimm’s drawings in 
12 volumes were bequeathed on Kaye’s death to 
the British Museum, Department of Manuscripts 
(now the British Library) and Kaye’s 22 volumes 
of notebooks were acquired by the museum in 
1851.2 This vast collection includes an unusually 
large number of drawings labelled Newstead, over 
30, all probably produced between 1775 and 1779.3 
Of these, there are seven drawings which appear to 
relate to Newstead which were outside the remit of 
our study of the architectural history of the Abbey 
and these form the subject of this article. These 
drawings relate to both natural and man-made 
features in the landscape around Newstead, though 
not necessarily within the estate of the 5th Lord 
Byron (1722–98). 

S H Grimm

Samuel Hieronymus Grimm was born in Berne in 
1733 and arrived in England in 1768 where he soon 
established himself as a prolific and well respected 
watercolour and topographical artist.4 He exhibited 
regularly at the Society of Artists and the Royal 
Academy and was elected a member of the Society 
of Arts in 1773. He was employed by the Society 
of Antiquaries and many of its members to record 
all manner of antiquities.5 He was described by the 

antiquarian Francis Gorse, FSA, (1731–1791) in a 
letter of recommendation to Sir Richard Worsley, 
FRS, FSA (1751–1805) of Appledurcombe in 1777, 
as follows:

He is nearly the best draughtsman in London. His 
expenses will be very moderate….This Grimm is a 
very modest well behaved man and will do as he is bid 
and not give himself those impertinent airs frequently 
assumed by artists much his inferior in abilities.6 

Whilst Grimm’s working method for such 
topographical works was described by Gilbert 
White, FRS (1720–1793) for whom he worked on 
illustrations for his Natural History and Antiquities 
of Selborne published in 1789. 

He first of all sketches his [land]scapes with a lead-
pencil; then he pens them all over, as he calls it, with 
Indian ink, rubbing out the superfluous pencil-strokes; 
then he gives a charming shading with a brush dipped 
in Indian ink, and last he throws a light tinge of water-
colours over the whole.7

Grimm’s Newstead drawings for Kaye include 
examples of the first two stages of production 
described here, ink, and, ink and wash. There is 
only a single example of Grimm’s final water-colour 
format of Newstead, but this was not amongst the 
drawings Kaye donated to the British Museum. 
It may well have been produced for Kaye since it 
appears to be based on an ink drawing produced for 
him which is signed by Grimm and dated 1775.8 
It is possible that the watercolour was given to the 
5th Lord Byron as thanks for allowing access to the 
Abbey.9 
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The 5th Lord Byron

William, the 5th Lord Byron, is often referred 
to as the ‘Wicked Lord’ after his conviction for 
the manslaughter of Mr William Chaworth of 
Annesley in a duel in January 1765.10 Byron had 
inherited his estates in 1743 and married an heiress, 
Elizabeth Shaw, in 1747. But by the 1760s, through 
his extravagant lifestyle, gambling, collecting and 
expenditure on the Abbey and its gardens, he found 
himself deeply in debt. His art collection was, for 
example, auctioned at Christies in March 1772 and 
a further sale of much of the contents of the Abbey 
took place in 1778.11 Dr Kaye took advantage of 
the 5th Lord’s financial difficulties, for in a letter to 
the Duke of Portland written 12th December 1775 
he records that ‘…I have bought Lord Byron’s 
strong beer for my Parish and his brass eagle 
for Southwell [Minster], at good bargains; he is 
dismantling the whole. I have also got his Orange 
and Lemon Trees…’. The medieval brass lectern 
and its candlesticks, which had been unearthed at 
Newstead by the 5th Lord, and which were recorded 
by Grimm, remain in Southwell Minster to this 
day.12 Kaye then, somewhat surprisingly, concludes 
his letter, ‘the messages are very civil between 
seller and buyer though we have never met in our 
lives’, perhaps confirming the 5th Lord’s reputation 
as a recluse in his later years. 13 

Dr Richard Kaye

Dr Richard Kaye [Fig. 1], as he was known 
before he inherited the baronetcy on the death of his 
elder brother in 1789, was born at Denby Grange 
the family’s seat near Wakefield in Yorkshire. He 
graduated from Brasenose College, Oxford in 1754 
where he became friends with his future patron 
William Henry Cavendish-Bentinck (1738–1809), 
later 3rd Duke of Portland of nearby Welbeck 
Abbey.14 Kaye was ordained in 1762 and travelled 
abroad in Italy and Germany in 1763–64. In 1765 he 
was appointed by Portland as rector of St Wilfrid’s 
Church, Kirkby-in-Ashfield, the most valuable 
living in the Deanery of Nottingham only five 
kilometres north-west of Newstead Abbey.15 Kaye 
was a pluralist and he acquired many ecclesiastical 
benefices during his long career though the Rectory 

at Kirkby [Figs 2 and 3] remained his main residence 
until his appointment as Dean of Lincoln Cathedral 
in 1783.16 He was also a botanist and collector, a 
Trustee of the British Museum and a friend of 

FIGURE 1: Anon. Portrait of Dr Richard Kaye c.1770.  
R W Goulding.

FIGURE 2: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. ‘Kirkby in Ashfield 
Church. The Procession of the School Children’ 1783. Dr 
Kaye can be seen leading the procession (far left) and the 

Rectory can be seen (far right) with its now demolished chapel 
attached. British Library Add MSS 15544 f. 11
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David Garrick, Joseph Banks and Captain Cook. 
Kaye employed Grimm to accompany him over a 
period of 21 years on some of his many travels and 
to record ‘every thing curious’ that they saw.17 Kaye 
was Grimm’s most important patron and friend. He 
was one of the ‘three worthy friends and employers’ 
Grimm named in his will and Kaye conducted his 
funeral service held at St Pauls, Covent Garden on 
18th April 1794.18 

Some idea of the circumstances under which 
a number of these drawings were made can be 
glimpsed in a letter from John Charles Brooke, FSA 
(1748–1794), the Somerset Herald, to his fellow 
antiquarian Richard Gough, FSA, FRS (1735–
1809) in which he describes a tour he had made to 
the north in the autumn of 1779.19 

Herald’s College Dec 12, 1779

….[I] crossed Nottingham Forest to Dr Kaye’s at Kirkby, 
where I stayed a fortnight. The Dr had unfortunately 
lamed himself, and could not stir out; but Grimm, who 
was with him some months, the Doctor’s butler, who is 
very intelligent, and myself, made an expedition every 
morning to Survey the county, and either returned to 
a late dinner, or took provisions with us, and Grimm 
made drawings of every thing curious; in these rides 
we saw Newstead Abbey, Felley and Beauvale Priories, 
Hardwick House, Wingfield and Bolsover Castle in 
Derbyshire, another Hardwick20 ancient seat of the 
Talbots Earls of Salop [Shrewsbury], where Wolsey was 
confined, in Nottinghamshire and all the neighbouring 
churches within a day’s ride…Major [Hayman] Rooke, 
who lives in Mansfield [Woodhouse], was much with us 
at Kirkby, and in some of our tours. The Doctor lives in 
an elegant style, and keeps a most hospitable house.21

This ‘hospitable house’, the Rectory at Kirkby-in-
Ashfield, from which these intrepid antiquarians set 
out, had been rebuilt in 1717 for a previous rector, 
Dr Matthew Brailsford, as ‘the most commodious 
dwelling that any parson in this county hath.’22 A 
glimpse of the ‘elegant style’ in which Kaye lived 
can be seen in a drawing by Grimm inscribed ‘The 
Harvest Children at Prayer’ [Fig. 4] which shows Dr 
Kaye (kneeling centre right) leading the prayers of 
the local children in the dining room of the rectory 
at Kirkby-in-Ashfield.23 The room has a large 
bolection-mould chimneypiece with an up-to-date 
basket-grate. There are portraits on the walls and 

four Chippendale-style dining chairs with unusual 
quatrefoil decoration in the Gothick style, though 
the room and the picture are both dominated by 
the Greendale Cabinet. This cabinet was made for 
Henrietta, Countess of Oxford (1694–1755), and its 
panels illustrate the famous Greendale Oak which 
once stood in the park at Welbeck Abbey.24 The 
cabinet was designed in the Gothick style to match 
the new Gothick style interiors she introduced to 
Welbeck Abbey in around 1750.25 By the 1770s the 

FIGURE 3: The Old Rectory, Kirkby-in-Ashfield. Built 1717. 
The main residence of Dr Kaye between 1765 and 1783.  

Pete Smith

FIGURE 4: S H Grimm. Ink and wash. Inscribed “The Harvest 
Children at Prayer”. 1773. Dr Richard Kaye is shown (centre 

right) leading prayers in the dining room of the Rectory at 
Kirkby-in-Ashfield. British Library Add MSS 15544 f. 15
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cabinet was owned by Lady Oxford’s grandson and 
heir, the 3rd Duke of Portland, Kaye’s friend and 
patron, and the cabinet was on extended loan to him 
at Kirkby.26 

This group of knowledgeable antiquarians, 
Charles Brook, Major Hayman Rooke, a ‘pioneer of 
archaeology in Nottinghamshire’, and Dr Kaye, plus 
his ‘intelligent’ butler [probably Matthew Baldwin], 
were presumably responsible for choosing the 
subjects for Grimm’s drawings and also for their 
identification and interpretation as recorded in 
Grimm’s inscriptions and in the catalogue entries 
to the remaining drawings which were presumably 
written by Kaye himself after discussion with his 
colleagues.27 

The Hunting Stand

Three of the Newstead drawings discussed here 
illustrate the same feature, a rectangular earthwork 
surrounded by a ditch. The first ink on paper 
drawing is inscribed by Grimm ‘Site of the hunting 
Tent, behind Newstead, Notts’ the second, a more 
finished ink wash on paper drawing is catalogued 
as ‘Lyn Hurst Hunting Station’ and the third another 
ink on paper drawing is catalogued ‘An outline in 
ink of an Iron Age earthwork in Newstead Forest 
near Newstead Abbey’ These combined captions 
suggest that Kaye and his fellow antiquarians 
recognised that this earthwork was an ancient 
structure and that at a later date it had been re-used 
as the stand or station for the Lynhurst Hunt. 

This earthwork survives on the southern 
boundary of the former parish of Lindhurst, now 
Blidworth. John Chapman’s map, Nottingham Shire 
Survey’d in 1774, which was dedicated to Dr Kaye 
and ‘undertaken by his direction’, shows an area 
4 kilometres to the north-east of Newstead Abbey 
which is entitled ‘Lindhurst’. Lindhurst Plains 
was purchased with the manor of Mansfield from 
the crown in 1601 by the 7th Earl of Shrewsbury 
(1552–1616) and sold by his widow in 1618 to 
William Cavendish, later 1st Duke of Newcastle, 
(1593–1676) when it became part of the Welbeck 
Abbey estates.28 It was not, and never had been, part 
of the Byron family’s Newstead estates though it 

FIGURE 5: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. Inscribed “Site of the 
hunting Tent, behind Newstead, Notts”, Forest Dale moat seen 
from the north-west with Copt Hill Farmhouse in the distance. 

British Library Add MSS 15544 f. 103

FIGURE 6: S H Grimm. Ink wash on paper. Catalogued 
“Newstead, Lyn Hurst Hunting Station”, Forest Dale moat 

seen from the north-east. British Library Add MSS 15544 f.105
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was situated right on the boundary between the two 
estates and this presumably explains why Grimm 
and Kaye captioned their drawings as Newstead.29 

This earthwork is scheduled as an Ancient 
Monument, entitled ‘Fountain Dale moat’, List 
Entry No. 1008627. It is situated east of the present 
A60 at the south-east corner of Harlow Wood at 
Fountain Dale, Grid Ref. SK5667156881. It is sited 
north of a stream known as Rainworth Water. This 
allows us to identify the position from which the 
Grimm drawings were taken. The first is seen from 
the north-west with Copt Hill Farmhouse in the 
distance [Fig. 5], the second [Fig.6] and third [Fig. 
7] drawings are both taken from the north-east. 
The third ink drawing was presumably done on site 
whilst the second, a far more finished ink and wash 
drawing, has been given a more powerful portrait 
format and a lower viewpoint which like the clouds 
exaggerates the dramatic impact of the image. The 
third drawing is therefore almost certainly the more 

accurate rendition of this earthwork from the north-
east. 

This monument is described in the schedule, not 
as ‘an Iron Age earthwork’, but as: 

a well-preserved example of a small residential moat 
with documented historical associations. It has suffered 
little disturbance since it was abandoned, and so the 
buried remains of medieval buildings and structures 
survive throughout.

There are certainly no signs of any former 
structures today [Fig. 8] and none appear on any of 
Grimm’s drawings. 

The entry states that it comprises ‘a roughly 
rectangular island 48m x 35m surrounded by a 12m 
wide ditch…The north-east corner of the moat is 
crossed by a 14m wide causeway.’ A very narrow 
causeway is shown at this corner on Grimm’s 

FIGURE 7: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. Catalogued “An outline in ink of an Iron Age earthwork in Newstead Forest near Newstead 
Abbey”, Forest Dale moat from the south-west with Copt Hill Farmhouse on the far right. British Library Add MSS 15544 f. 104
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drawings. The scheduling site plan [Fig. 9] also 
shows narrow access channels cut through the outer 
bank at the south and east corners which allowed 
water to be fed into the moat from the large pond 

behind the dam across Rainworth Water to the west. 
The scheduling entry continues: 

In 1251, the moat was the site of a hunting lodge within 
Sherwood Forest from which the forester Raffe Clerc 
collected tolls. In the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries 
it was also a residence for the forest underlords when 
visiting Mansfield. 

David Crook argues persuasively that Fountain 
Dale moat is not the site of this former hunting 
lodge, Rainworth Lodge, the residence of Ralph 
Clerc, keeper of Lindhurst in around 1250, as 
suggested in the scheduling description sited 
above.30 This lodge was described in 1640 as having 
been at the west end of Lindhurst Wood and to the 
south of Rainworth Water, whilst Forest Dale moat 
is sited much further east and north of the stream. 

Similarly it was suggested by Gover, Mawr and 
Stenton in their Place Names of Nottinghamshire 
that this moated site [Forest Dale moat] could be 

FIGURE 8: Fountain Dale moat from the south-west in 2017. Pete Smith

FIGURE 9: Scheduling site plan of Fountain Dale moat. 
Historic England, Crown Copyright 2018 – OS Licencing No. 

100063263
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identified as Langton Lodge a lost hunting lodge in 
Sherwood Forest, but Philip E Jones in his article 
on the history of Langton Arbor argues that this is 
not the case and that ‘the site of the [Langton] lodge 
is on a slight hill…in the parish of Ravenshead 
and about 8.5km south-east of Mansfield (at SK 
578536).’31 Though Forest Dale moat – the Hunting 
Station in Grimm’s drawings – cannot therefore 
be identified as the site of either of these lodges, it 
does seem to be medieval in origin and most likely 
the site of an as yet unidentified medieval hunting 
lodge. 

Though this disproves Kaye’s suggestion that 
this feature was ‘an Iron Age earthwork’, this does 
not necessarily negate the possibility that his other 
suggestion that it was used as a Hunting Station 
or Stand at some later date was correct. This flat 
rectangular moated platform would have provided 
an ideal setting for tents or more elaborate timber 
and canvas structures to serve a hunt; a place not for 
viewing the hunt but a base for providing services 
and refreshments for those taking part. 

The Lynhurst Pillar

The fourth ink wash on paper drawing by Grimm 
is of Lynhurst Pillar, lying on the ground neglected 
and vandalised [Fig. 10] Kaye’s catalogue entry 
for this drawing reads ‘Lynhurst Pillar; formerly 

erected in memory of the Royal Hunt at Lynhurst, 
Notts’. This was presumably the same ‘Lyn Hurst’ 
hunt referred to in the caption of one of Grimm’s 
drawings of Forest Dale moat (see Fig 6) though 
with the important added suggestion that it was a 
Royal hunt. Lynhurst Pillar is sited approximately 
one kilometre to the north-west of Forest Dale 
moat in a field to the east of Black Scotch Lane.32 
It is marked on present day Ordnance Survey 
maps as ‘forest stone’ on the parish boundary 
between Blidworth and Mansfield. It is listed as 
‘Forest Stone, Lyndhurst’ at Grade II, List entry 
Number: 1370190. This square pillar made of the 
local sandstone stands approximately two metres 
high. It has chamfered sides with label stops.33 It 
most likely dates from the seventeenth or early-
eighteenth centuries and could possibly have been 
re-used. The present solid cobble stone base which 
once supported railings was constructed in the 
mid-twentieth century [Fig. 11].

FIGURE 10: S H Grimm. Ink wash on paper. Catalogued 
as “Lynhurst Pillar: formerly erected in memory of the  

Royal Hunt at Lynhurst, Notts.” British Library Add MSS 
15544 f. 107 FIGURE 11: Lindhurst Pillar in 2017. Pete Smith
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The pillar has a mid-twentieth century metal 
plaque mounted upon it with a misleading 
inscription based on a ‘theory’ about the origins of 
the pillar promulgated by ‘two local antiquaries’. It 
was added when the pillar was restored by the 7th 
Duke of Portland.34 This theory suggested that the 
pillar came from the old market house in Mansfield 
which was replaced by Lady Oxford in 1752 with the 
present Moot Hall. Unknown to these anonymous 
antiquaries the inscription on an original brass plate, 
the rivets for which can be clearly seen in Grimm’s 
drawing, had been recorded by B Wilcocks in 1741 
and transcribed by the surveyor John Dowland in 
1813. It stated:

Foresta de Sherwood in Com. Nott Memorandum. At  
the Attachment Court held for the said Forest in this 
Place called Lincoln dale in Mansfield walk the [blank] 
day of September in the first year of the Raigne of our 
[blank] Lady Queen Anne over England &c. Anno Dom 
1702 – John Digby and John Neal Esqrs. Two of her 
Majesties Verderers of the said Forest, Then & there 
the Right Noble John [Holles] Duke of Newcastle Lord 
Warden of the said Forest, the Right Honble William, 
[4th] Lord Byron Bowbearer of the said Forest, The 
Rt. Honble Scroop Lord How chief Ranger of the said 
Forest And Keeper of the several walks call’d Birkland 
and Bilhaigh, George Savile Esqr. Keeper of the Offices 
of Mansfield woodhouse and No Manswood, Thos. 
How Esqr. Keeper of Mansfield and Lindhurst, Took 
the several Oathes appertaining to their respective 
Offices, Administered by Fracis Wyld Gent, Clark of 
the said Forest. Attending then these Deputy Keepers, 
Wm Gosling Snr., Wm Gosling Junr., James Moor, 
Wm. Clark, Gent: John Key, Thos Westtyngton & John 
Bagulie, Gent.35

This disproves the suggestion that the pillar was 
erected in 1752 by Lady Oxford.36 But it does partly 
confirm the second part of the twentieth century 
inscription, that it marked the site of a Forest court, 
but only of a single ‘Attachment Court’ held in 1702, 
rather than the site of a regular court. Such regular 
Forest courts ‘were held in Nottingham. One of the 
four medieval Nottinghamshire attachment courts, 
held by local forest officials. For minor offences, 
courts were held at nearby Mansfield,’37 In fact the 
inscription states that this was a special ceremonial 
meeting where the Forest officials ‘Took the several 
Oathes appertaining to their respective Offices’ as 
required on the accession of a new monarch, in this 

case Queen Anne, rather than for the dispensing of 
justice. 

One further reference to this pillar can be found 
in a pamphlet published by Major Hayman Rooke 
in 1799:

On the north side of Harlow Wood stands a large square 
pillar, on which was formerly a brass plate with an 
engraving. Tradition says that this Pillar was formerly the 
place where the Forest Officers of the Crown assembled 
annually on Holyrood-day, early in the morning, to 
receive the Charge of the Lord Chief Justice in Eyre, 
to view fences and take account of the Deer, in order to 
make the Presentiments at the Swanincote Court, which 
was held at Mansfield by the Steward appointed by the 
Lord Chief Justice in Eyre.38

Rooke who accompanied Grimm and Charles 
Brooke ‘in some of our tours’ may well have visited 
this pillar with them, though interestingly he makes 
no mention of the name ‘Lynhurst’ or a royal hunt. 
Instead he gives a somewhat confused version of 
the original inscription based presumably on local 
hearsay.

None of this explains why this important meeting 
was held here in the middle of what was by then 
a field. The gradual encroachment and enclosure of 
the former royal forest of Sherwood had increased 
in the seventeenth century and Lindhurst was 
cleared for pasture well before 1702 according to an 
anonymous historian writing in 1641: 

I have myself seen in that lordly Lindhurst and other 
parts of this Forest numberless numbers of goodly 
oak…..where now there is nothing to be seen but Oves 
and Boves [sheep and cattle].39 

The explanation could be that this stone already 
existed here in 1702 and that the stone itself was the 
reason why this special court met here. The original 
inscription makes no suggestion that this stone was 
erected to commemorate this event, it simply states 
that it took place here. If this were so, then the 
stone must have had some strong connection with 
the management of this royal forest. The simple 
explanation would be that it was a ‘forest stone’, one 
of a number of boundary markers which defined the 
extent of the forest, but it did not stand on the edge of 



	 SAMUEL GRIMM, DR RICHARD KAYE AND THE 5TH LORD BYRON AT NEWSTEAD� 135

the forest and there is no mention of a Lynhurst Stone 
in the last Perambulation of the Forest in 1662.40 

So, if this pillar doesn’t mark the site of a regular 
forest court, what does it mark? Is it possible that 
there is some half-remembered truth in Kaye’s 
catalogue entry ‘Lynhurst Pillar; formerly erected 
in memory of the Royal Hunt at Lynhurst, Notts’ – 
information presumably gleaned from locals at the 
time of their visit. If so, then maybe the pillar marks 
the site of a kill by a royal visitor or some other 
particular event during a royal hunt, and perhaps it 
was this royal association which gave it its special 
significance and made it a fitting site for the meeting 
of the Attachment Court of 1702.

The king who most regularly visited Sherwood 
Forest specifically for hunting was James I. He 
favoured the then new French style of hunting deer 
on horseback which suited the open landscape of 
Sherwood Forest. He regularly stayed at Newstead, 
Rufford and Welbeck Abbeys to enjoy the hunting 
on his Progresses to the north between 1612 and 
1624. Fountain Dale moat and the Lindhurst Pillar 
stood on land owned by the 7th Earl of Shrewsbury 
(the owner of Rufford Abbey) up until 1618 when 
his widow sold the land to Sir William Cavendish 
(later 1st Duke of Newcastle) and it became part of 
the Welbeck Abbey estate. The title, the Royal Hunt 
at Lynhurst, could therefore refer to any one of the 
king’s visits to Newstead Abbey, Rufford Abbey or 
Welbeck Abbey. 

The only occasion when James I hunted at both 
Rufford and then Newstead occurred in August 
1612. That year the king stayed at Rufford Abbey 
for three nights, 11th to 14th, where he was 
‘enjoying all the pleasures of a chase in perfection’, 
and he then went on to spend a further three nights 
at Newstead Abbey, leaving on the 17th.41 Together 
these visits comprised one of the most extensive 
hunting trips of James’s many Progresses and the 
erection of a hunting stand to service the needs of 
the royal party and their servants, horses and hounds 
would have been useful. Fountain Dale moat stood 
on the boundary of these two estates, 7km south-
west of Rufford Abbey but only 4km north-east of 
Newstead Abbey, and it could have provided an 
ideal service point for both hunts.42 This would also 

have allowed the Earl of Shrewsbury and Sir John 
Byron to share at least some of the onerous cost of 
entertaining the royal party. It seems likely that it 
was the communal memory of one of these royal 
visits by King James which became known locally 
as the Lynhurst Hunt, though unfortunately no other 
evidence has come to light so far to pinpoint which 
of these visits it refers to specifically. 

Some idea of what the tents or other temporary 
structures at a royal hunt might have looked like can 
be gleaned from an engraving based on a drawing 
coincidently also by Grimm. This drawing is a copy 
of the Tudor murals which then survived at Cowdray 
House in Sussex depicting incidents in the life of 
Sir Anthony Browne, Master of the Horse to Henry 
VIII and Edward VI.43 The drawing which records 
the siege of Bologne in 1544 illustrates some of the 
elaborate structures provided for the king’s comfort 
by the Office of Tents and Revels.44 Obviously far 
fewer tents would have been needed for a few days 
of hunting and they would not have needed to be as 
elaborate as the ones Henry VIII used to impress his 
allies and his enemies [Fig. 12]. 

The Mile Oak

A fifth ink on paper drawing which forms part 
of this series is inscribed ‘Newstead, Notts’ and 
catalogued as ‘Mile Oak in Kirkby Forest’.45 Dr 
Kaye recorded the existence of a Mile Oak Field 
within Kirkby Forest, though no reference to the 

FIGURE 12. Detail of the Siege of Bologne by King Henry 
VIII, MDXLIV, engraving after S H Grimm, Painting at 
Cowdray (1778) © The Society of Antiquaries of London
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exact whereabouts of this oak tree is known.46 This 
is one of a number of drawings by Grimm of oak 
trees in Sherwood Forest such as the Greendale Oak 
and the Parliament Oak. A similar interest in the 
recording of Sherwood’s ancient oaks can be found 
in Major Hayman Rooke’s publication in 1790, 
Descriptions and Sketches of some remarkable 
Oaks, which illustrated those found on the Welbeck 
Abbey estate.47 Unlike most these ancient oak trees 
this example appears to be relatively young and 
was presumably thought worth recording more 
for its very unusual spreading habit rather than its 
enormous age. By the end of the eighteenth century 
oaks of almost any age had become symbols of 
the Sherwood Forest which was disappearing fast 
and becoming associated with the recently revived 
interest in a certain legendary outlaw. 

The Robin Hood Hills

The last two ink on paper drawings are catalogued 
as: ‘Part of the Robin Hood Hills, Notts’ [Fig. 14] 
and ‘Robin Hood’s Chair near Newstead’ [Fig. 15]. 

FIGURE 13: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. Catalogued “Mile Oak in Kirkby Forest”. British Library Add MSS 15544 f. 108

FIGURE 14: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. Inscribed “part of  
the Robin Hood Hills, Notts.” British Library Add MSS 15544 

f. 110
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Both these features can be identified on a number 
of county maps, the earliest being John Chapman’s 
map, Nottingham Shire Survey’d in 1774 and most 
clearly on early Ordnance Survey maps [Fig. 16]. 
Robin Hood Hills is a range of low hills seen from 
the north in Grimm’s drawing. Robin Hood’s Chair 
was a rocky sandstone outcrop on a spur from these 
hills seen from the south-east. 

Hayman Rooke in his A sketch of….Nottingham 
published in 1799 also refers to these hills: 

At the north-west end of the Forest, between Newstead 
and Kirkby [in Ashfield], there is a remarkable 
assemblage of hills, which form a kind of amphitheatre 
at the end of the little valley; they are called Robin 
Hood Hills, and at a distance resemble Tumuli, but on 
nearer approach they evidently appear to be too large to 
be formed by art. On the top of the highest was a Seat, 
cut out of the solid rock, with a Canopy over it: it was 
destroyed about twenty years ago, to form some rock-
work in the lake in Newstead Park.48

What remained of this outcrop, after it had been 
plundered by the 5th Lord Byron in order to create 
what became known as the Ragged Rock on an 
island in his new lake at Newstead, has since been 
largely eroded though what once survived was 
fortunately photographed in 1917 by S Clemens 
[Fig. 17].49 There is a marked contrast between the 
wooded hill top, a fragment of medieval Kirkby 
Forest, seen rising above cultivated fields in the 
image of Robin Hood’s Chair and the bleak hilltops 
in the more distant view of Robin Hood Hills.

Use of the name ‘Robin Hood’ by Grimm, Kaye, 
Rooke and Chapman at just this time is interesting. 
The legend of Robin Hood was reinvigorated by 
Thomas Percy with the publication of Reliques of 
Ancient English Poetry in 1765, and popularised 
further with the publication in 1795 of Joseph 
Ritson’s eight fifteenth-century ballads in Robin 
Hood. A Collection of Ancient Poems, Songs and 
Ballads.50 A measure of the increase in interest 
in Robin Hood in the eighteenth century can be 
gauged from Robert Thoroton’s Antiquities of 
Nottinghamshire published in 1670 which makes no 
mention of him, whilst Robert Thorsby’s revision 
published in 1790–93 devotes at least six pages to 
his supposed adventures.51 Were the designations 
of these features part of this new enthusiasm 
for the legend of Robin Hood or were they, like 
Robin Hood’s Wells at Sneinton in Nottingham 

FIGURE. 15: S H Grimm. Ink on paper. Catalogued as “Robin 
Hood’s Chair near Newstead.” British Library Add MSS 15544 

f. 109

FIGURE 16: Robin Hood Hills and Robin Hood’s Chair. 
Ordnance Survey Map: Nottinghamshire XXVII SE (1886, 

surveyed 1877–78) © Crown Copyright 1886

FIGURE 17: A photograph of Robin Hood’s Chair in 1917 by 
S Clemens. Picturethepast
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and Skelbrooke in Yorkshire, of more ancient 
nomenclature.52 

Conclusion

This research has in some ways raised more 
questions than it has answered. Though most of 
these features found in Grimm’s drawings have been 
identified, it has not been possible to establish with 
any certainty whether the ‘Royal Hunt at Lynhurst’ 
took place or if in fact it was anything more than 
a local legend. The example of the ‘two local 
antiquarians’ and their Lindhurst Pillar ‘theory’ 
inscribed on the present plaque is a salutary lesson 
which should be borne in mind when attempting 
any further theories about these features. An 
archaeological investigation of the Fountain Dale 
moat might verify whether this earthwork were ever 
used as a Hunting Stand, and though some of the 
history of the Lindhurst Pillar has been clarified its 
significance and meaning still remains something 
of a mystery. It has at least been an opportunity 
to illustrate and explore a few of the thousands of 
remarkable drawings which Kaye commissioned 
from that ‘very modest behaved man’, Samuel 
Hieronymus Grimm.

The importance of Grimm’s drawings to the 
topographical, architectural and archaeological 
history of Nottinghamshire in the eighteenth 
century cannot be doubted. The architectural 
histories of Newstead Abbey and Welbeck Abbey 
are both indebted to Grimm and Kaye for the record 
they provide of both houses prior to their later 
alterations. In some cases these drawings provide 
the only known illustrations of such long lost 
country houses as Selston Hall [Fig. 18], whilst the 

drawings of many of the county’s churches provide 
a unique record of their appearance before the era 
of Victorian restoration.53 But as these drawings 
discussed here illustrate, Dr Kaye and his associates 
were not only interested in architecture but in 
recording and collecting all manner of old, rare and 
unusual features in the landscape, the landscape 
itself and even the activities of Dr Kaye and the 
people of his parish [see Figs 2 and 4]. The breadth 
of the interests of Kaye and his fellow antiquaries 
meant that such diverse objects as the Fountain 
Dale moat and Robin Hood’s Chair were recorded, 
though whether their record of the local legends 
associated with these places and structures was as 
accurate as Grimm’s drawings remains an open 
question.
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